

# SCABIES

# Questions & Answers



March 2012

## **Contents**

Maı	nagement summary	1
Bac	skground	2
1.	Does scabies present in more than one form?	2
2.	How is classical scabies transmitted and which groups are vulnerable to infection?	2
3.	How is crusted scabies transmitted?	2
4.	How many mites does a person with scabies carry?	2
5.	What is the life cycle of the scabies mite?	3
6.	What are the symptoms of classical scabies and how quickly do they develop?	3
7.	How large are scabies mites?	3
8.	What are the symptoms of crusted scabies?	3
Tre	atment	4
9.	Which scabies treatments are available in the UK?	4
10.	How effective are these treatments?	4
11.	How safe are the scabies treatments that are available in the UK?	5
12.	What can be used for post-scabetic itch?	5
13.	Who should be treated?	6
14.	Is a bath necessary before topical treatment?	6
15.	How should topical treatment be applied?	6
16.	How many applications of topical treatment are required?	6
17.	How quickly does the treatment work?	6
18.	What signifies treatment failure?	6
19.	Why does treatment sometimes fail?	7
20.	What are the treatment options if a first course of treatment fails?	7
21.	What is the recommended treatment for a young child?	7
22.	Should children with scabies be kept away from school?	7
23.	How should scabies be treated during pregnancy?	8
24.	How should scabies be treated in a breastfeeding mother?	8
25.	How should crusted scabies be treated?	8
26.	Is there any need to decontaminate items with which the person with classical or	
	crusted scabies has come into contact?	8
27.	What precautions should be taken by people caring for people with crusted scabies?	9
Ref	erences	10
Inde	ex	i

### **Management summary**

- For classical scabies:
  - Permethrin 5% cream or malathion 0.5% aqueous liquid.
     Permethrin is the treatment of choice. Use malathion if permethrin is inappropriate.
- For crusted (hyperkeratotic or Norwegian) scabies:
  - Oral ivermectin (available on named-patient basis) plus topical treatment (e.g. permethrin 5% cream).
     Mechanical clearance of crusted regions under the nails and keratolytic therapy, e.g. 2% salicylic acid ointment, might be beneficial.
- In pregnancy:
  - Permethrin 5% cream or malathion 0.5% aqueous liquid if permethrin is inappropriate.
- In breastfeeding mothers:
  - Permethrin 5% cream or malathion 0.5% aqueous liquid if permethrin is inappropriate.
- In young children:
  - Permethrin 5% cream (2 months and older). or
  - Malathion 0.5% aqueous liquid (6 months and older).

### **Background**

Scabies may be described as a delayed hypersensitivity reaction to the saliva and faeces of the parasitic mite, *Sarcoptes scabei*, which burrows in the skin.

Research into the epidemiology of scabies in the UK has indicated that scabies is more common in winter than in summer<sup>1,2</sup>, in urban than rural areas and in children and women than in men.<sup>1,2</sup> There are around 300 million cases of scabies in the world each year.<sup>3</sup> Scabies is not a notifiable condition in the UK.<sup>4</sup>

### 1. Does scabies present in more than one form?

Scabies may present in a 'classical' or 'crusted' form. **Classical scabies** is found in people with fully functional immune systems, whereas **crusted scabies** usually occurs in patients who are immunocompromised, institutionalised or in those who have become insensitive to itch, perhaps due to long-term scabies. Scabies or Crusted scabies is also known as hyperkeratotic scabies or Norwegian scabies. It is extremely rare in its fully developed form.

### 2. How is classical scabies transmitted and which groups are vulnerable to infection?

Transmission of scabies mites is by direct skin-to-skin contact.<sup>7</sup> Transmission could not be expected to occur during a single, brief handshake, but is more likely to occur following prolonged contact.<sup>8</sup>

Scabies is more likely to spread within close communities and families, but studies have shown the onward transmission rate to be lower than might be expected. In one study, the secondary attack rate within households was 38%. Generally, adults are infected as a result of contact with children and not vice versa. Scabies affects more women than men. Sexual partners are commonly infected.

The disease shows a clear bias towards the young.<sup>7</sup> Most at risk are children and teenagers.<sup>2,10</sup> There is also a relatively high incidence amongst the elderly in nursing homes.<sup>5</sup>

### 3. How is crusted scables transmitted?

The risk of transmission is greatly increased with crusted scabies. People with this form of scabies develop crusted lesions on their bodies<sup>6</sup> and carry a large burden of mites.<sup>7</sup> Crusts containing hundreds of live mites may break away, perhaps making infection from mites in these crusts possible.<sup>3</sup> Crusted scabies cases can be a major infection control problem in long-stay institutions.<sup>11</sup> This form of scabies is often at the centre of an outbreak of classical scabies among the families or contacts of residents.

### 4. How many mites does a person with scabies carry?

The number of mites per infected person depends on their immune status.

Initially, immunocompetent people may harbour a large number of mites. Bathing reduces the number of mites significantly and, even a few weeks after infection, levels are likely to be lower than the initial count in most people. Many mites are eliminated during, or as a result of scratching and the number of mites will eventually fall to about 10 in most people.

Continued:...

People with compromised immunity are more likely to develop crusted scabies and carry hundreds of thousands of mites. Up to 4,700 mites per gram of skin has been counted in skin that has been shed from people with crusted scabies.<sup>3</sup>

### 5. What is the life cycle of the scabies mite?

Scabies mite eggs are laid in burrows, hatch within 3 to 4 days, 6,12 and go through three juvenile stages before reaching maturity. After eggs are laid, 10-13 days will elapse before the appearance of adult mites. Male scabies mites move on the skin surface, whereas female mites live out their life span of 4-6 weeks in burrows within the stratum corneum. The female mites begin to lay eggs soon after starting to burrow and continue to lay 1-3 eggs daily.

### 6. What are the symptoms of classical scabies and how quickly do they develop?

People with classical scabies usually experience a delayed hypersensitivity reaction to the mites, their eggs and faeces. They experience intense itching and a transient, ill-defined, bilaterally symmetrical rash; symptoms that take about 2 to 6 weeks to develop.<sup>3,6,15</sup> In the event of reinfestation, symptoms can develop within 1-3 days or longer (see also Question 20).<sup>3,5</sup>

# While asymptomatic, people can transmit the mites to others even though they are unaware of having them.<sup>5</sup>

Lesions appear around mite burrows. These can be papular, pustular or excoriated.<sup>5</sup>

Common sites for burrows are:-

- between the fingers
- on the wrists
- the sides of hands and feet
- the outside of the elbow
- the penis and scrotum
- female nipples
- anterior axillary folds.<sup>16</sup>

Although indicative of the presence of scabies, burrows are often difficult to see. They are grey/white, curved, raised lines measuring several millimetres in length, most commonly seen on the hands and wrists. 17

**Elderly/very young:** In the elderly, skin lesions might be more widely distributed than in younger people. Infants often have vesicular lesions in areas without hair, including on the head, neck, soles of the feet and behind the ears.<sup>6</sup>

### 7. How large are scabies mites?

Scabies mites can be difficult to spot as they are rarely longer than 0.5 mm.<sup>14</sup>

### 8. What are the symptoms of crusted scables?

In crusted scabies, itching may be mild.<sup>3</sup> Thick crusts and papules might appear anywhere on the body,<sup>5</sup> but are usually apparent on the:

- palms of the hands
- soles of the feet. 16

### **Treatment**

### 9. Which scabies treatments are available in the UK?

In the UK, four scabicides are used for the treatment of scabies: permethrin 5% cream, malathion aqueous 0.5% liquid, benzyl benzoate 25% emulsion and ivermectin.

Both permethrin 5% cream and malathion aqueous 0.5% liquid are available without prescription. Permethrin 5% cream is the first-line choice. Malathion aqueous 0.5% liquid can be used if permethrin cream is inappropriate (for example, allergy to chrysanthemums).<sup>4,12,18</sup>

Benzyl benzoate is not as effective as permethrin or malathion,<sup>4</sup> is generally no longer recommended,<sup>12</sup> and, should be avoided in children.<sup>4</sup>

Ivermectin is an orally administered drug, which is licensed in the USA for the treatment of strongyloidiasis and onchocerciasis infections<sup>19</sup> and in France for the treatment of strongyloidiasis and scabies.<sup>20</sup> It is available on a named-patient basis in the UK and is used mainly to treat crusted scabies that does not respond to topical treatment alone. For further information on treating crusted scabies, **see Question 26**.

### 10. How effective are these treatments?

Few published studies directly compare the scabies treatments that are currently used in the UK. The information available suggests that permethrin 5% cream is the scabicide of choice for classical scabies. Based on the analysis of two trials for each comparison, a Cochrane review on scabies treatment reported that topical permethrin was more effective than a single dose of oral ivermectin. Reported that topical permethrin was more effective than a single

In one of the permethrin versus ivermectin studies mentioned above<sup>23</sup>, ivermectin 200 micrograms/kg was administered as a single dose to 40 patients with scabies; 45 other patients received a single, overnight, topical application of permethrin cream 5%.<sup>23</sup> By week two, treatment was considered to be effective (i.e. there was an improvement in pruritus, as assessed by a visual analogue scale) in 70% of patients in the ivermectin group and 97.8% of those in the permethrin group.<sup>23</sup>

In the second study comparing permethrin with ivermectin treatment, cure was defined as the absence of new lesions. Results from 27 ivermectin patients and 28 permethrin patients were analysed. Although all the ivermectin patients were cured after two weeks, the cure rate was higher for permethrin patients than for ivermectin patients at the end of week one (82% vs 56%, p<0.05). $^{24}$ 

Another study looked at cure rates in three groups of patients with scabies who received either topical permethrin 5% (n=40), ivermectin 200 micrograms/kg/dose in a single dose (n=40) or two doses of ivermectin 200 micrograms/kg/dose with a dose interval of 2 weeks (n=40). Patients were followed up after 1,2 and 4 weeks. Cure rates in the permethrin, single-dose ivermectin and double-dose ivermectin groups were not statistically significantly different and were 94.7%, 90% and 89.7%, respectively. At week one, the score for pruritus, as assessed by patients using a visual analogue scale was significantly lower in the permethrin group than in either of the ivermectin groups (p=0.001 versus single-dose ivermectin, p=0.004 versus double-dose ivermectin).<sup>25</sup>

Continued:...

Malathion is considered to be a second-line treatment but the Cochrane review did not identify any malathion trials. Uncontrolled trials with malathion 0.5% (single application left on skin for 24-48 hours) have found cure rates of 70-80% within 2-4 weeks.<sup>18</sup>

Analysis of five trials that compared ivermectin 100-200 micrograms/kg with benzyl benzoate 10%-25% for a Cochrane review showed that there was significant heterogeneity between the trials, perhaps due to the different drug regimens and follow-up periods used in the trials. Three trials, with follow-up periods of 1 week, 3 weeks and 30 days concluded that there was no significant difference between the treatments. <sup>24,26,27</sup> One trial found benzyl benzoate to be more effective after 14 days <sup>28,</sup> (RR=2.00, 95% CI 1.47 to 2.72), whereas another found a significant difference in favour of ivermectin after 30 days <sup>29</sup> (RR=0.13, 95% CI 0.03 to 0.53).

Benzyl benzoate is generally no longer recommended, permethrin and malathion having taken its place. 12

Although licensed for the treatment of scabies, crotamiton is generally used only for itching following the treatment of scabies with more effective agents.<sup>4</sup>

Ivermectin has proven efficacy in crusted scabies when used with a topical mite killing drug. 15,30,31

### 11. How safe are the scabies treatments that are available in the UK?

A review of existing safety data on topical malathion concluded that there is no evidence of serious systemic adverse reactions associated with its use.<sup>32</sup>

Like malathion, permethrin is not well absorbed and is metabolised quickly.<sup>33,34</sup> Topical use of permethrin is usually associated with only mild adverse effects.<sup>35</sup>

Known side effects of scabies treatments available in the UK include:

**Permethrin:** Burning/stinging sensations (usually mild, transient, and more common in patients with severe scabies) and skin irritation, e.g. rash/itching, erythema, oedema and eczema. These effects are usually transient.<sup>36</sup>

Malathion: Skin irritation and hypersensitivity reactions.<sup>37</sup>

**Benzyl benzoate:** Skin irritation, excoriations and (occasionally) rashes. A burning sensation may be experienced, especially on the genitalia.<sup>4</sup>

**Ivermectin** (available on named-patient basis only): aggravation of symptoms,<sup>22</sup> headache,<sup>38,39</sup> hypotension<sup>38</sup>, abdominal pain<sup>28,38</sup> vomiting,<sup>38</sup> pustular rash,<sup>26</sup> cellulitis<sup>26</sup> and mild diarrhoea<sup>28</sup> have been noted in patients receiving ivermectin for scabies in clinical trials.

### 12. What can be used for post-scabetic itch?

Itching may continue for weeks after successful treatment for scabies,<sup>4</sup> but treatment failure should be suspected if the itching persists for longer than 2-4 weeks after the last application of scabicide.<sup>40</sup> Treat post-scabetic itch with crotamiton (2-3 times a day or once a day in children under 3) or, if the scabies mites have definitely been eradicated, with topical hydrocortisone 1%.<sup>4</sup> Night time use of a sedative antihistamine could be considered to help with sleep<sup>4</sup> and reduce scratching.<sup>18</sup> Dry skin/eczema can be treated with emollients.<sup>41</sup> Any creams/emollients should be applied after the topical scabicide has been absorbed into the skin.<sup>18</sup>

### 13. Who should be treated?

For treatment to be effective, those affected and all their household and close contacts need to be treated simultaneously (within a 24-hour period), regardless of whether they have symptoms. <sup>12,18</sup> If anyone is missed there is a high risk that they will reinfect the others.

### 14. Is a bath necessary before topical treatment?

No, scabicides should be applied to cool, dry skin. Vasodilation as a result of a warm bath, might cause the scabicide to be removed from the skin into the bloodstream too quickly, 4,6 perhaps resulting in decreased efficacy and increased systemic side effects.

### 15. How should topical treatment be applied?

Apply treatment to cool, dry skin. Use a small (75mm) paintbrush, 10 not cotton wool 5 for liquid preparations. Creams can be applied by hand, but healthcare professionals who treat people routinely may wish to wear gloves to prevent the skin on their own hands from becoming irritated. 36

Check that the **whole body** is covered. Although it is not in line with the advice given on the SPCs for permethrin<sup>36</sup> and malathion,<sup>37</sup> current expert advice for all people is to treat the head (i.e. scalp, neck, face and ears) as well as the rest of the body.<sup>4</sup> Avoid the areas around the eyes and mouth in children under 2 years,<sup>36,37</sup> but pay particular attention to the areas between the fingers and toes, the underside of the nails, wrists, armpits, external genitalia, breast, buttocks, and (in children under 2) the palms of the hands and soles of the feet.<sup>36</sup>

Leave the treatment on for 8-12 hours for permethrin 5%,<sup>36</sup> and for 24 hours for malathion 0.5%.<sup>37</sup> It can be applied before going to bed.<sup>10</sup> Reapply the treatment immediately if any areas of the body, e.g. hands, are washed during the treatment period.<sup>4</sup>

Wash off with cool water and then shower or bathe in the normal way. 10

### 16. How many applications of topical treatment are required?

The current recommendation is to apply permethrin or malathion twice, leaving a period of 7 days between the two applications.<sup>4</sup> People with crusted scabies may require 2 or 3 applications of permethrin or malathion on consecutive days to ensure that enough penetrates the skin crusts to kill all the mites.<sup>4</sup>

### 17. How quickly does the treatment work?

Itching can continue for weeks after treatment but should be absent or reduced by 2-4 weeks after the last application of scabicide (see treatment of post-scabetic itch – **question 12**).<sup>40</sup> Lesions should heal within about 4 weeks of treatment.<sup>21</sup>

### 18. What signifies treatment failure?

New burrows at any stage after the second application of scabicide are indicative of treatment failure. By 2-4 weeks after the last application of insecticide, itching should have subsided. If itching is still present at this time, the person should be reviewed.<sup>40</sup>

### 19. Why does treatment sometimes fail?

Treatment will fail if the scabicide was not applied correctly or if simultaneous treatment of all the person's contacts did not occur. Using cotton wool instead of a brush to apply liquid treatment might result in too little being applied. 5

Re-infestation by an untreated contact is a common reason for treatment failure. Re-infestation should be suspected if symptom improvement was apparent 7-10 days after treatment, but symptoms recurred 2-3 weeks after treatment.<sup>5</sup>

Mites could become resistant to commonly used scabicides. In 2005, it was reported that resistance to permethrin may be emerging.<sup>42</sup> A questionnaire survey of dermatologists in the UK in 2000 suggested that there might also be some resistance to malathion.<sup>43</sup>

Topical treatments may not penetrate crusts in people with crusted scabies. If treatment had failed for this reason, crust scrapings would contain live mites.<sup>5</sup>

The possibility of misdiagnosis should be considered in treatment failure.

### 20. What are the treatment options if a first course of treatment fails?

If burrows are still present after a course of permethrin 5% cream, further treatment options are available. A second course of permethrin 5% could be prescribed, ensuring that further advice on administration technique and adherence to treatment is supplied. Alternatively a scabicide from a different chemical class could be prescribed e.g. malathion 0.5%. This type of prescribing might help to prevent the development of resistance, although it is conceivable that mites could develop resistance to both permethrin and malathion. If this occurred, benzyl benzoate might be effective, but it is an irritant. Furthermore, benzyl benzoate is not as effective as permethrin and malathion, and should be avoided in children. Ivermectin has been used successfully in classical scabies. 21,31,44

### 21. What is the recommended treatment for a young child?

Use permethrin 5% cream or aqueous malathion 0.5% in young children. Permethrin 5% (Lyclear<sup>®</sup> Dermal Cream) is licensed for the treatment of scabies in children from the age of 2 months. Children aged between 2 months and 2 years should be treated under medical supervision.<sup>36</sup> Aqueous malathion 0.5% (Derbac-M<sup>®</sup> Liquid) is licensed for treating scabies in children aged 6 months and over. Use of Derbac-M<sup>®</sup> Liquid in children younger than 6 months is contraindicated except on medical advice.<sup>37</sup> Scabies is rare in infants younger than 2 months.<sup>18</sup>

Mittens and socks should be considered to prevent infants from sucking the permethrin or malathion off their thumbs and toes.<sup>42</sup>

The safety of ivermectin in children weighing under 15kg has not been established. 19

### 22. Should children with scabies be kept away from school?

Children with scabies can attend school after the first application of treatment. However, all family members and close contacts should be treated at the same time to avoid treatment failure.<sup>18</sup>

### 23. How should scabies be treated during pregnancy?

Based on the available information, topical permethrin and malathion are both suitable for treating scabies in fit and healthy pregnant patients. Systemic absorption following topical administration is low with both preparations and the risk of congenital malformations would not be expected to increase following exposure to either during pregnancy.<sup>45</sup>

### 24. How should scabies be treated in a breastfeeding mother?

It is unknown whether permethrin is secreted into human breast milk following topical administration to the mother. However, the absorption following topical administration of permethrin is less than 2% and it is metabolised rapidly. Also, Lyclear dermal cream (permethrin 5%) is licensed for the treatment of scabies in babies as young as 2 months. Systemic absorption following topical administration of malathion is also low and the manufacturers of Derbac M liquid (malathion 0.5%) state that it can be used with caution during breastfeeding as there are no known effects in lactation.

The Prodigy Summary for Scabies recommends permethrin 5% dermal cream as a first-line treatment in breastfeeding mothers, and malathion 0.5% aqueous liquid if permethrin is inappropriate for any reason, e.g. if mother is allergic to chrysanthemums.<sup>18,47</sup> The reason for recommending permethrin 5% dermal cream as a first-line treatment is that there is more supportive evidence for the use of permethrin than malathion.<sup>18</sup>

Skin irritation following direct contact with the treatment on the mother's skin may occur in babies exposed to permethrin or malathion during breastfeeding. To minimise exposure of the baby to the preparation, the cream or liquid should be removed from the breast before feeding, and reapplied afterwards.<sup>18</sup>

### 25. How should crusted scabies be treated?

Seek specialist advice when treating crusted scabies.<sup>18</sup> Orally administered ivermectin has demonstrated efficacy in crusted scabies<sup>15,44</sup> Two doses of ivermectin 200 micrograms/kg with a fortnight in between doses has been found to be effective, but additional doses are required in severe cases.<sup>18</sup> Combining ivermectin with topical treatment, e.g. permethrin or benzyl benzoate has shown efficacy even in severe cases<sup>15,30</sup> Single-dose ivermectin 200 micrograms/kg by mouth in combination with topical drugs has been used after failure of topical treatment alone.<sup>4</sup> A recent review recommended using topical permethrin 5% every 2 to 3 days for 1 to 2 weeks and oral ivermectin 200 microgram/kg/dose, taken with food, as three doses (days 1,2 and 8), five doses (days 1,2,8,9 and 15) or seven doses (days 1,2,8,9,15,22 and 29), according to the severity of the infection.<sup>48</sup>

A keratolytic agent such as salicylic acid ointment 2% can be used twice daily to dislodge crusts. <sup>6</sup> Scrubbing crusted areas under the nails might also help to shorten the course of topical drug therapy. <sup>15</sup>

# 26. Is there any need to decontaminate items with which the person with classical or crusted scabies has come into contact?

**Classical scabies:** Following treatment for scabies, the Health Protection Agency advises that there is no evidence to suggest (classical) scabies is transmitted on clothing, towels and bedding and therefore no special cleaning or laundering measures other than the usual hygienic ones are required following treatment.<sup>12</sup> Other guidance recommends washing these items at a temperature

of above 50°C.<sup>18</sup> Placing clothing or footwear that cannot be washed in a plastic bag for 72 hours will also kill mites.<sup>18</sup>

**Crusted scabies:** In a recent report, the Health Protection Agency acknowledged that fomites such as bedding, towels, soft furnishings and equipment might be involved in the dissemination of crusted scabies. <sup>12</sup> It may therefore be advisable to wash items at temperatures above 50°C. Careful vacuuming of furniture and carpets in the rooms used by these people is recommended. <sup>40</sup>

### 27. What precautions should be taken by people caring for people with crusted scabies?

Guidance varies, however publications have indicated that gloves and gowns/aprons offer sufficient protection to staff caring for people with crusted scabies. 15,49

### References

- 1. Downs AMR, Harvey I, Kennedy CTC. The epidemiology of head lice and scabies in the UK. Epidemiol Infect 1999;122:471-7.
- 2. Lassa S, Campbell MJ, Bennett CE. Epidemiology of scabies prevalence in the UK from general practice records. Br J Dermatol 2011;164:1329-34.
- 3. Chosidow O. Scabies and pediculosis. Lancet 2000;355:819-26.
- 4. Joint Formulary Committee. British National Formulary. 62 ed. London: British Medical Association and Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain; 2011.
- 5. Burgess IF. Diagnosing and treating scabies. Practitioner 1997;241:739-43.
- 6. Anon. The management of scabies. Drug Ther Bull 2002;40(6):43-6.
- 7. Wendel K, Rompalo A. Scabies and pediculosis pubis: an update of treatment regimens and general review. Clin Infect Dis 2002;35:S146-51.
- 8. Fox GN, Usatine RP. Itching and rash in a boy and grandmother. J Fam Practice 2006;55:679-84.
- 9. Church RE, Knowelden J. Scabies in Sheffield: a family infestation. Br Med J 1978;1:761-3.
- 10. The Medical Entomology Centre. Public Service Sector (Scabies section) [cited 2012 Feb 27]. Available from: <a href="http://www.insectresearch.com/ps">http://www.insectresearch.com/ps</a> scabies.htm.
- 11. Bouvresse S, Chosidow O. Scabies in healthcare settings. Curr Opin Infect Des 2010;23:111-8.
- 12. Health Protection Agency. The management of scabies infection in the community;2010 [cited 2012 Feb 27]. Available from: <a href="http://www.hpa.org.uk/webc/HPAwebFile/HPAweb\_C/1194947308867">http://www.hpa.org.uk/webc/HPAwebFile/HPAweb\_C/1194947308867</a>.
- 13. Kemp DJ, Walton SF, Harumal P, Currie BJ. The scourge of scabies. Biologist 2002;49:19-24.
- 14. Smethurst D. Management of lice and scabies infestations. Prescriber 2000:11:30-41.
- 15. Paasch U, Haustein U-F. Management of endemic outbreaks of scabies with allethrin, permethrin, and ivermectin. Int J Dermatol 2000;39:463-70.
- 16. Scott GR, Chosidow O. European guideline for the management of scabies. Int J STD AIDS 2011;22:301-3.
- 17. Flinders DC, de Schweinitz P. Pediculosis and scabies. Am Fam Physician 2004;69:341-8,349-50.
- 18. Prodigy Summary (Scabies) [cited 2012 Feb 27]. Available from: http://www.prodigy.clarity.co.uk/scabies#.
- 19. Stromectol® (Ivermectin). US Prescribing Information [cited 2012 Feb 27]. Available from: http://www.merck.com/product/usa/pi\_circulars/s/stromectol/stromectol\_pi.pdf.
- 20. Anon. Ivermectin: new indication. Oral treatment of scabies: simple and effective. Prescrire Int 2002;61:137-40.
- 21. Strong M, Johnstone P. Interventions for treating scabies. Cochrane Database of Systematic reviews 2007, Issue 3. Art. No.:CD000320. DOI: 10.1002/14651858. CD000320.pub2.
- 22. Anon. Management of scabies in primary care. National Prescribing Centre. MeReC Bulletin Volume 18, Number 4.
- 23. Usha V, Gopalakrishnan N. A comparative study of oral ivermectin and topical permethrin cream in the treatment of scabies. J Am Acad Dematol 2000;42:236-40.
- 24. Bachewar NP, Thawani VR, Mali SN et al. Comparison of safety, efficacy, and cost effectiveness of benzyl benzoate, permethrin, and ivermectin in patients of scabies. Indian J Pharmacol 2009;41(1):9-14.
- 25. Sharma R, Singal A. Topical permethrin and oral ivermectin in the management of scabies: A prospective, randomized, double blind, controlled study. Indian J Dermatol Venereol Leprol 2011;77:581-6.
- 26. Brooks PA, Grace RF. Ivermectin is better than benzyl benzoate for childhood scabies in developing countries. J Paediatr Child Health 2002;38(4):401-4.
- 27. Glaziou P, Cartel JL, Alzieu P et al. Comparison of ivermectin and benzyl benzoate for treatment of scabies. Trop Med Parasitol 1993;44(4):331-2.
- 28. Ly F, Caumes E, Ndaw CAT et al. Ivermectin versus benzyl benzoate applied once or twice to treat human scabies in Dakar, Senegal: a randomized controlled trial. Bull World Health Org 2009;87:424-30.
- 29. Nnoruka EN, Agu CE. Successful treatment of scabies with oral ivermectin in Nigeria. Trop Doct 2001;31(1):15-8.

- 30. Alberici F, Pagani L, Ratti G, Viale P. Ivermectin alone or in combination with benzyl benzoate in the treatment of human immunodeficiency virus-associated scabies. Br J Dermatol 2000:142:969-72.
- 31. Leppard B, Naburi AE. The use of ivermectin in controlling an outbreak of scabies in a prison. Br J Dermatol 2000;143:520-3.
- 32. Anon. Safety of malathion for the treatment of louse and scabies infestation. MCA/CSM Current Problems in Pharmacovigilance 2000;26:2.
- 33. Malathion (Drug Evaluation). In DRUGDEX® System (electronic version). Thomson Reuters Healthcare Inc., Greenwood Village, Colorado, USA. Available at: <a href="http://www.thomsonhc.com">http://www.thomsonhc.com</a> (cited: 27/02/2012).
- 34. Permethrin (Drug Évaluation). In DRUGDEX<sup>®</sup> System (electronic version). Thomson Reuters Healthcare Inc., Greenwood Village, Colorado, USA. Available at: <a href="http://www.thomsonhc.com">http://www.thomsonhc.com</a> (cited: 27/02/2012).
- 35. Meinking TL, Taplin D. Safety of permethrin vs lindane for the treatment of scabies (editorial). Arch Dermatol 1996:132:959-62.
- 36. Summary of Product Characteristics Lyclear Dermal Cream. Chefaro UK Ltd. Accessed via <a href="http://www.medicines.org.uk/EMC/medicine/10439/SPC/Lyclear+Dermal+Cream/">http://www.medicines.org.uk/EMC/medicine/10439/SPC/Lyclear+Dermal+Cream/</a> on 27/02/12 [date of revision of the text Nov 2010].
- 37. Summary of Product Characteristics Derbac M Liquid. SSL International plc. Accessed via <a href="http://www.medicines.org.uk/EMC/medicine/18995/SPC/Derbac+M+Liquid/">http://www.medicines.org.uk/EMC/medicine/18995/SPC/Derbac+M+Liquid/</a> on 22/11/11 [date of revision of the text Feb 2008].
- 38. Chouela EN, Abeldano AM, Pellerano G et al. Equivalent therapeutic efficacy and safety of ivermectin and lindane in the treatment of human scabies. Arch Dermatol 1999;135(6):651-5.
- 39. Madan V, Jaskiran K, Gupta U, Kumar Gupta D. Oral ivermectin in scabies patients: a comparison with 1% topical lindane lotion. J Dermatol 2001;28(9):481-4.
- 40. Scabies frequently asked questions (FAQs). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Available at: <a href="http://www.cdc.gov/parasites/scabies/gen\_info/faqs.html">http://www.cdc.gov/parasites/scabies/gen\_info/faqs.html</a> (cited: 27/02/2012).
- 41. Burgess I. Treating lice and scabies. Prescriber 2000;11:99-100,102,105.
- 42. Johnston G and Sladden M. Scabies: diagnosis and treatment. Br Med J 2005;331:619-22.
- 43. Bennett CE, Keefe M, Reynolds JC. Perceptions of the incidence of scabies and efficacy of treatment in UK hospitals (letter). Br J Dermatol 2000;143:1319-59.
- 44. Meinking TL et al. The treatment of scabies with ivermectin. N Engl J Med 1995;333:26-30.
- 45. Treatment of Scabies in Pregnancy (April 2008). United Kingdom Teratology Information Service. Cited 2012 Feb 27. Available from: http://www.toxbase.org.
- 46. Hale TM, editor. Medications and Mothers' Milk. Hale Publishing LP; 2011 [cited 2012 Feb 27]. Available from: http://www.medsmilk.com/.
- 47. Trent Medicines Information Centre (Specialist Information and Advisory Service on Drugs in Breast Milk). Contacted 1 July 2010.
- 48. Currie BJ, McCarthy JS. Permethrin and Ivermectin for Scabies. N Engl J Med 2010;362:717-25.
- 49. Karthikeyan K. Crusted scabies. Indian J Dermatol Venereol Leprol 2009;75:340-7.

### Prepared by:

Alex Bailey, Welsh Medicines Information Centre alex.bailey@wales.nhs.uk

### Date of preparation:

February 2012

### Checked by:

Gail Woodland, Welsh Medicines Information Centre gail.woodland@wales.nhs.uk

### Date of Check:

March 2012

# Index

A	K
application (topical treatment)6	keratolytic agent8
В	L
bathing	life cycle of the scabies mite
breastreeding	malathion aqueous4,5,6,7,8
С	
carers9	P
carpets       8         children       7         cleaning       8         classical scabies       2,3,8         crusted scabies       2,3,8	permethrin
D	R
decontamination, fumigation8	repeat applications 6 reinfestation 7 resistance to treatment 7
E	
efficacy of treatments4 epidemiology2	S
epidemiology2	Sarcoptes scabei
F	side effects of scabies treatments 5
fumigation, decontamination	size of mites
Н	Т
household contacts6	topical treatment4,6
hygiene measures8	towels
	transmission - crusted scables
1	treatment4
infant	treatment failure6
	Υ
	young children7

### **WELSH MEDICINES INFORMATION CENTRE**

Fiona Woods, Rowena McArtney, Alana Adams, Gail Woodland, Anna Burgess, Diana Fletcher, Zainab Alani, Cerys Lockett, Jane Houghton (YCC Wales)

University Hospital of Wales, Heath Park, Cardiff CF14 4XW (029) 2074 2251 / 2074 2979 (direct lines) Fax: (029) 2074 3879

E-mail addresses:

fiona.woods@wales.nhs.uk rowena.mcartney@wales.nhs.uk alana.adams@wales.nhs.uk gail.woodland@wales.nhs.uk anna.burgess@wales.nhs.uk diana.fletcher@wales.nhs.uk zainab.alani@wales.nhs.uk cerys.lockett@wales.nhs.uk jane.houghton@wales.nhs.uk

LOCAL MEDICINES INFORMATION CENTRES IN WALES	Rowena McArtney Pharmacy Department University Hospital of Wales Heath Park Cardiff CF14 4XW Tel: (029) 2074 3878 (direct) E-mail: rowena.mcartney@wales.nhs.uk Susan Beach
Jayne Davies Pharmacy Department University Hospital Llandough Llandough CF64 2XX Tel: (029) 2071 5262 (direct) E-mail: jayne.davies6@wales.nhs.uk	Pharmacy Department West Wales General Hospital Carmarthen SA31 2AF Tel: (01267) 227465 (direct) E-mail: sue.beach@wales.nhs.uk
Lisa Forey Pharmacy Department Royal Gwent Hospital Newport NP20 2UB Tel: (01633) 234233 (direct) E-mail: lisa.forey@wales.nhs.uk	Nia Sainsbury / Rhian Donald Pharmacy Department Princess of Wales Hospital Bridgend CF31 1RQ Tel: (01656) 752501 (direct) E-mail: nia.sainsbury@wales.nhs.uk E-mail: rhian.donald@wales.nhs.uk
Claire Ganderton / Helen Morteo Pharmacy Department Royal Glamorgan Hospital Ynysmaerdy CF72 8XR Tel: (01443) 443530 (direct) E-mail: claire.ganderton@wales.nhs.uk E-mail: helen.morteo@wales.nhs.uk	Tracy Roberts / Laura Millward Pharmacy Department Ysbyty Glan Clwyd Bodelwyddan LL18 5UJ Tel: (01745) 534097 (direct) E-mail: drugs@wales.nhs.uk
Scott Pegler Pharmacy Department Morriston Hospital Swansea SA6 6NL Tel: (01792) 703117 (direct) or (01792) 704068 or ring switchboard on 01792 702222 and ask for bleep 3948 E-mail: scott.pegler@wales.nhs.uk	Mair Martin / Sarah Davies Pharmacy Department Ysbyty Gwynedd Bangor LL57 2PW Tel: (01248) 384141 (direct) E-mail: mair.martin@wales.nhs.uk sarah.davies9@wales.nhs.uk
Dianne Burnett Pharmacy Department Withybush Hospital Haverfordwest SA61 2PZ Tel: (01437) 773418 (direct) E-mail: dianne.taylor@wales.nhs.uk	Jayne Price Powys Teaching Health Board Mansion House Bronllys. Powys LD3 0LS Tel: (01874) 712655 (direct) E-mail: jayne.price2@wales.nhs.uk

This publication is available on our website at www.wmic.wales.nhs.uk